
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 
PUBLIC MEETING #201 

 
October 13, 2016 

10:00 a.m. 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

101 Federal Street, 12th Floor  
Boston, MA 

 







 

Meeting Minutes 

  

 

Date/Time: September 8, 2016 – 10:00 a.m. 

Place:  Massachusetts Gaming Commission  
 101 Federal Street, 12th Floor  
 Boston, Massachusetts 
  
Present:  Chairman Stephen P. Crosby  
 Commissioner Gayle Cameron  

Commissioner Lloyd Macdonald  
Commissioner Bruce Stebbins 
Commissioner Enrique Zuniga 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Call to Order  
See transcript page 2 
  
10:00 a.m.     Chairman Crosby called to order the 199th Commission meeting.   
   
Approval of Minutes  
See transcript pages 2-3  
  
10:00 a.m.  Commissioner Macdonald moved for the approval of the August 10, 2016 

Commission meeting minutes subject to any corrections, typographical errors, or 
other nonmaterial matters.  Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron.  Motion 
passed unanimously.      

 
Commissioner’s Update   
See transcript pages 3-39 
 
10:00 a.m. Chairman Crosby reported that the legislature passed a law for a committee to study 

daily fantasy sports and online gaming.  Chairman Crosby requested that he be 
nominated to represent the gaming commission on the committee panel.  Chairman 
Crosby stated that it will be a staff collaborative effort.  Commissioner Zuniga 
stated that he is familiar with these types of commissions and that there is a lot of 
work required; especially follow up work from staff.  He stated that he agrees with 
the designation of Chairman Crosby and welcomes updates.   

Time entries are linked to 
corresponding section in                  

Commission meeting video 

https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=6
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=28
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=57


 
 
 Commissioner Stebbins noted that the landscape of online gaming keeps changing, 

he cited an example of mybookie.net, and stated that we need our licensees input on 
what they intend to do.   

 
 Commissioner Cameron raised the issue of betting on live professional sporting 

events and noted that England is a leader in sports betting.   
 
10:11 a.m. Commissioner Zuniga moved that the Commission designate Chairman Crosby to 

be the representative on the (DFS and online gaming) Commission.  Motion 
seconded by Commissioner Macdonald.  Chairman Crosby abstained from the vote.  
Motion passed 4 to 0 with 1 abstention.   

 
10:11 a.m. Chairman Crosby noted that he and Commissioner Macdonald attended a gaming 

conference at UNLV (University of Nevada Las Vegas).  Commissioner Macdonald 
provided highlights of the conference which included the following themes:  
innovation (concerns that the industry will be left behind if they can’t develop 
entertainment games that appeal to the post Baby Boom generation); development 
of eSports - an emerging industry; technology (development of new games and 
enforcement); regulatory oversight (promotion of honesty and integrity in 
operations of facilities, consumer trust, and concern for regulations becoming a 
barrier to entry into the market); anti-money laundering, advantage play, and Indian 
gaming.  He noted that gambling is no longer the center of the Las Vegas strip and 
revenues are coming more from entertainment.  He stated that a new focus is on 
integrated resorts and a total experience.  He also stated he experienced hometown 
pride with the work of Director Mark Vander Linden and responsible gaming 
strategies being highlighted at the conference.  He stated that the commission’s 
work in this area was cited repeatedly as groundbreaking.  He stated that Chairman 
Crosby gave two presentations that were well received and included lessons of 
establishing a new gaming regimen in Massachusetts.    

  
Administrative Update  
See transcript pages 39-45 
 
10:48 a.m. Executive Director Edward Bedrosian, Jr., reported on new personnel that included:  

state police officers Ronald Gibbons, Kevin Nolan, Michael Banks and Thomas 
Rodger; Teresa Fiore, program manager of research and responsible gaming; and 
financial investigator Colin Heneghan.  He provided an update on Penn National’s 
social gaming and rewards program.  He noted that starting in October there will be 
building security changes.   He stated that notice to the public about the changes 
will be posted on our website.     

 
Racing Division 
See transcript pages 45-86 
 
10:55 a.m. General Counsel Catherine Blue reported on a letter from Suffolk Downs to 

Raynham requesting payment of simulcast premiums.  She also noted a response 
from Raynham outlining their position on why the funds haven’t been paid.  She 
stated that a letter was received from Suffolk Downs requesting that the 
Commission review this matter.  General Counsel Blue requested guidance from the 
Commission on how they want staff to proceed and provided options.   

https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=651
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=672
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=2914
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=3285


 
 
 The Commissioners discussed having the parties prepare briefs on their positions 

and present at a future commission meeting.   
 
11:11 a.m. Dr. Alexandra Lightbown, Director of Racing, reported that October 1st is the 

deadline for submitting the 2017 racing applications and the Commission will vote 
on the applications by November 15th. 

 
11:13 a.m.  Dr. Alexandra Lightbown reported on a request from the Massachusetts 

Thoroughbred Breeders Association (“MTBA”) to race outside of Massachusetts.  
She noted that the Commission had previously approved their requests.    

 
11:23 a.m.  Commissioner Stebbins moved that the Commission approve the request of the 

Massachusetts Thoroughbred Breeders Association to run five restricted Mass. 
bred races in the two year-old Norman Hall stakes at Finger Lakes racecourse this 
fall and approve the request to run at either Laurel Park or Delaware Park.  
Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron.  Motion passed unanimously.   

 
11:24 a.m. Douglas O’Donnell, Senior Financial Analyst, reported on Suffolk Down’s request 

for consideration from the capital improvement trust fund.  He noted six projects for 
track improvements totaling $92,649.19.   

 
11:29 a.m. Commissioner Cameron moved that the Commission approve Suffolk Downs 

racecourse request for the work that has been done on alterations, additions, 
replacements and changes as stated in the memo.  Motion seconded by 
Commissioner Stebbins.  Motion passed unanimously.  

 
11:30 a.m. Dr. Alexandra Lightbown presented on a request from Plainridge Park Casino for 

the approval of two new veterinarians - Dr. Clifford Morcum and Dr. Jesse Sugrue, 
to substitute for the regular veterinarian.   

 
11:31 a.m. Commissioner Stebbins moved that the Commission reaffirm the approval of the 

request of Steve O’Toole to approve Drs. Clifford Morcum and Jesse Sugrue as fill-
in association veterinarians.  Motion seconded by Commissioner Zuniga.  Motion 
passed unanimously.    

 
11:32 a.m. Dr. Alexandra Lightbown presented on a request from Suffolk Downs for approval 

of an outrider – William Lavergne.  Dr. Lightbown requested that the Commission 
affirm her approval of Mr. Lavergne as a racing official.   

 
11:32 a.m. Commissioner Cameron moved that the Commission affirm the approval of Dr. 

Lightbown for William Lavergne as an outrider.  Motion seconded by 
Commissioner Macdonald.  Motion passed unanimously.   

 
Investigations and Enforcement Bureau 
See transcript pages 87-98 
 
11:33 a.m. Director Karen Wells provided a licensing regulation review update and stated that 

she has received comments from MGM and plans to wait for additional comments.  
She stated that she will put the proposed regulation amendments before the 
Commission for formal promulgation at the next meeting.   

https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=4256
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=4393
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=4974
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=5009
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=5334
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=5360
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=5436
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=5486
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=5522
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=5545


 
 Chairman Crosby inquired about the internal control regulations.  The 

Commissioners discussed the process for changing regulations.     
 
11:45 a.m. The Commission took a brief recess. 
11:52 a.m. The meeting resumed.   
 
Workforce, Supplier, and Diversity 
See transcript pages 99-111 
 
11:52 a.m. Director Jill Griffin provided an update on workforce development.  She stated that 

Wynn Boston Harbor will be conducting seven construction career fairs.  She noted 
that this will be an opportunity for women, minorities, and veterans to learn about 
the trades and get information about the application process.   

 
 She also reported on a hospitality training program, which is free for 50 

unemployed Holyoke residents annually, which will begin in October.  She stated 
that the training is a collaborative effort involving the City of Holyoke, Holyoke 
Community College, and MGM.  She also noted that the Commonwealth 
Corporation has supported this effort.    

 
 Chairman Crosby raised the matter about CORI requirements and stated that we 

will have this discussion in a few weeks.     
 
 Commissioner Macdonald noted that he is impressed by the work of Director 

Griffin and the commitment by our licensees.   
 
Legal Division 
See transcript pages 112-114 
 
12:06 p.m. General Counsel Catherine Blue presented on the amendment to 205 CMR 138.00: 

Uniform Standards of Accounting Procedures and Internal Controls (ATM).  She 
noted that a public hearing was conducted, public comments were received, and she 
requested that the Commission approve the amended small business impact 
statement and steps for final promulgation.   

 
12:07 p.m. Commissioner Stebbins moved that the Commission approve the amended small 

business impact statement and final version of the amendment to 205 CMR 138 as 
included in the packet, and authorize staff to take all steps necessary to file the 
regulation with the Secretary of the Commonwealth and complete the regulation 
promulgation process.  Motion seconded by Commissioner Macdonald.  Motion 
passed unanimously.  

 
Other Business Not Reasonably Anticipated 
See transcript page 114 
 
12:08 p.m. Having no further business, a motion to adjourn was made by Commissioner 

Cameron.  Motion seconded by Commissioner Zuniga.  Motion passed 
unanimously.   

  
 
 

https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=6339
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=7172
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=7250
https://youtu.be/OLE5yKQhbzc?t=7312


 
List of Documents and Other Items Used 

 
 
1.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Notice of Meeting and Agenda, dated September 8, 2016 
2.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Draft Meeting Minutes, dated August 10, 2016 
3.  Letter from the Massachusetts Gaming Commission to Penn National Gaming, Inc., dated  
       August 22, 2016 regarding social gaming developments 
4.  Letter from Penn National Gaming, Inc. to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission, dated 
       August 10, 2016 regarding social gaming developments   
5.  M.G.L. c. 128C, §2 - Simulcast wagering by racing meeting licensees; restrictions 
6.  Letter from Suffolk Downs to the Massasoit Greyhound Association, dated June 30, 2015 
       regarding demand for payment 
7.  Letter from Michael Morizio to Sterling Suffolk Racecourse, dated July 7, 2015 regarding 
       simulcast premiums, with attachments 
8.  Letter from Bruce Barnett (DLA Piper) to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission, dated May 
       16, 2016 regarding petition for suspension or revocation of Raynham Taunton Greyhound 
       licensees’ simulcasting authority  
9.   Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Memorandum dated September 6, 2016 regarding 
        Massachusetts Thoroughbred Breeders Association request to race at Finger Lakes, Laurel 
        and Delaware, with attachment 
10.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Memorandum dated September 8, 2016 regarding 
         request for consideration, Suffolk Downs Capital Improvement Trust Fund, with 
         attachments 
11.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Memorandum dated September 6, 2016 regarding 
         additional Plainridge Park Casino racing officials (veterinarians), with attachment 
12.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Memorandum dated September 6, 2016 regarding 
         additional Suffolk Downs racing official (outrider), with attachment 
13.  Holyoke Community College Hospitality and Culinary Arts, job training flyer and articles  
14.  Wynn Boston Harbor Building Trades Career Fairs flyer 
15.  205 CMR 138.00:  Uniform Standards of Accounting Procedures and Internal Controls -  
       Draft amendments (ATM), Amended Small Business Impact Statement, and public  
       comments  
 

       
     /s/ Catherine Blue  
     Catherine Blue, Assistant Secretary 
 
 



 

Meeting Minutes 

  

 

Date/Time: September 22, 2016 – 10:00 a.m. 

Place:  Massachusetts Gaming Commission  
 101 Federal Street, 12th Floor  
 Boston, Massachusetts 
  
Present:  Chairman Stephen P. Crosby  
 Commissioner Gayle Cameron  

Commissioner Lloyd Macdonald  
Commissioner Bruce Stebbins 
Commissioner Enrique Zuniga 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Call to Order  
See transcript page 2 
  
10:00 a.m.     Chairman Crosby called to order the 200th Commission meeting.   
   
Approval of Minutes  
See transcript pages 2-3 
  
10:01 a.m. Commissioner Macdonald moved for the approval of the August 18, 2016 

Commission meeting minutes subject to any corrections, typographical errors, or 
other nonmaterial matters.  Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron.  Motion 
passed unanimously.      

 
Commissioner’s Update   
See transcript pages 3-16 
 
10:01 a.m. Chairman Crosby reflected on the first Commission meeting that set a standard for 

a participatory, transparent, and fair process.  A video was shown, MGC by the 
Numbers, highlighting various Commission achievements to date.  A second video 
was shown highlighting the number of hours of Commission meetings.  Chairman 
Crosby expressed appreciation to the staff for their work.  Commissioner Zuniga 
noted the work done by our licensees.   

 

Time entries are linked to 
corresponding section in                  

Commission meeting video 

https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=55
https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=83
https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=111


 
10:10 a.m. Chairman Crosby noted that he and staff members met with Senator Rodrigues and 

his staff to discuss online gaming in other jurisdictions.  
 
10:12 a.m. Commissioner Stebbins reported that he and Chairman Crosby had a meeting with 

the new president of Springfield Technical Community College.  Commissioner 
Stebbins also reported on a meeting in Washington with Director Jill Griffin, the 
Governor’s Skills Cabinet, and MGM to discuss the hiring process at MGM 
National Harbor.   

 
10:16 a.m. Commissioner Zuniga reported on a legislative briefing that he attended and was 

organized by the Massachusetts Council on Compulsive Gambling.  He stated that 
the research team presented on the work we commissioned.     

 
Investigations and Enforcement Bureau (“IEB”) 
See transcript pages 17-40 
 
10:20 a.m. Loretta Lillios, Chief Enforcement Counsel and Deputy Director, presented on the 

applications of three companies, under Everi, for licensure as a gaming vendor 
primary.  She provided a background summary on the following companies:  Everi 
Payments, Inc., Everi Games, Inc., and Central Credit LLC.  She provided a 
summary of the investigation which included financial review, site visits and 
interviews.  She also reported that background reviews were conducted on eleven 
individual qualifiers.  She stated that the IEB recommends that the Commission 
approve all three applications for licensure as gaming vendors primary.   

 
10:37 a.m. Commissioner Cameron moved that the Commission approve the suitability of 

Everi Games, Inc., Everi Payments, Inc., Central Credit, LLC, and 11 individuals 
as well for this company, and approval of all the entities and individuals.  Motion 
seconded by Commissioner Macdonald.  Motion passed unanimously.     

 
10:45 a.m. The Commission took a brief recess.   
10:51 a.m. The meeting resumed.   
 
Ombudsman Report 
See transcript pages 41-84 
 
10:51 a.m. Ombudsman John Ziemba stated that MGM Springfield will provide a second 

quarter update.  He also provided an update on the City of Springfield’s downtown 
parking matter.  He reported that they will move forward with a valet program and 
RFP process.  

 
10:54 a.m. Mike Mathis, President and Chief Operating Officer for MGM Springfield, thanked 

Ombudsman Ziemba for his work on the Springfield parking matter.  He also 
congratulated the Commission on their milestone meeting and acknowledged the 
work done by Mike Sangalang on the video.  He also stated that other jurisdictions 
should look to the Commission for best practices in starting a new regulatory body.  
He noted that the City of Springfield made a national list of overlooked cities where 
business opportunities are rising, and they are proud to be a part of this opportunity.   

 
10:58 a.m.  Brian Packer, Vice President of Development and Construction for MGM 

Springfield, provided a second quarter construction update which included the 

https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=632
https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=760
https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=965
https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=1203
https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=2303
https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=2767
https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=2941
https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=3218


 
following:  overall site progress on garage, foundation, earth work, site cleanup,  
podium, new foundation for the church, removal of the rear portion of the armory 
and 73 State Street, demolition and salvage of architectural features of the YWCA 
building, stabilization of the Union Chandler façade, interior demolition of 95 State 
Street, site utility work, and design and schedule update.   

 
11:14 a.m. Seth Stratton, Vice President and General Counsel for MGM Springfield, reported 

on the second quarter spend and went over line items of costs.   
 
11:18 a.m.  Brian Packer provided a diversity update which included highlights in design and 

construction commitments and workforce statistics.  He noted that they have 
commitments with 74 diverse companies.     

 
11:33 a.m. Mike Mathis noted that the project is 24 months out from projected opening,  

workforce development is a priority, and they feel good about the schedule.   
 
11:37 a.m.  The Commission took a brief recess.   
11:42 a.m. The meeting resumed.   
 
Research and Responsible Gaming  
See transcript pages 85-137 
 
11:42 a.m. Director Mark Vander Linden and Dr. Rachel Volberg noted team members from 

the UMass Donahue Institute who worked on the Plainridge Park Casino 
construction report which included spending, employment, and economic impacts.       

 
11:45 a.m. Research Manager Rod Motamedi, from the UMass Donahue Institute, presented on 

the Plainridge Park Casino construction report, which included the following:  main 
structures, remodeling, preconstruction, construction, data collection and 
preparation, econometric modeling to measure regional and state impacts of 
construction, preconstruction spending, spending by category, total business 
revenue, total value added, workers and wages, total employment impacts, 
employment impacts by region, and total personal income.   

 
12:29 p.m. Theresa Fiore, Program Manager, presented on the projected versus actual 

economic impacts of the construction of Plainridge Park Casino which included: 
state hires, jobs, and construction spending.   

 
12:35 p.m. The Commission took a lunch break.  
1:17 p.m. The meeting resumed.   
 
Administrative Update 
See transcript pages 138-162 
 
1:17 p.m. CFAO Derek Lennon presented on the FY16 closeout and the first quarter FY17 

budget which included indirect costs, exploration of federal grants around 
workforce development, revenues, final spending, overtime, gaming control fund 
budget, and division budget adjustments.     

 
1:35 p.m. Agnes Beaulieu, Finance and Budget Officer Manager, presented on the supplier 

diversity benchmarks which included FY16 diversity spend and FY17 projections.   

https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=4165
https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=4393
https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=5265
https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=5522
https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=5708
https://youtu.be/OJb6nUoHMqk?t=8363
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=8
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=1035


 
She noted that for FY16, they reached and surpassed the benchmarks for women-
owned businesses and small businesses, the minority-owned business benchmark 
was almost met, and like many other state agencies, they continue to struggle with 
veteran-owned businesses.    

 
1:40 p.m. Director Karen Wells provided an update on the building security changes and 

noted that the turnstiles in the lobby will be activated on October 1st.  She stated 
that this will impact the commission meeting on October 13th, and there will be 
signage in the lobby for the public attending the meeting.   

 
Racing Division 
See transcript pages 162-173 
 
1:41 p.m. Douglas O’Donnell, Senior Financial Analyst, presented on a request for 

consideration from Suffolk Downs Capital Improvement Trust Fund.   
 
1:42 p.m. Commissioner Stebbins moved that the Commission approve the request from 

Suffolk Downs for the Suffolk Downs Capital Improvement Trust Fund for the total 
$107,468.98.  Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron.  Motion passed 
unanimously.    

  
1:46 p.m. Douglas O’Donnell presented on the quarterly aid distribution to cities and towns in 

which racing is conducted, for a total of $165,777.32 
 
1:47 p.m. Commissioner Cameron moved that the Commission authorize the Racing Division 

to make the appropriate payments to cities and towns as outlined in the memo dated 
September 22nd.  Motion seconded by Commissioner Stebbins.  Motion passed 
unanimously.   

 
1:48 p.m. General Counsel Catherine Blue provided an update on the Raynham and Suffolk 

Down’s payment matter.  She stated that we asked both parties to provide briefs on 
the issues and come to a meeting in October to address the Commission.   

 
1:49 p.m. Dr. Alexandra Lightbown, Director of Racing, presented on a request from 

Plainridge Park Casino to approve Steve O’Toole as a fill-in judge and backup 
starter.     

 
1:49 p.m. Commissioner Stebbins moved that the Commission approve the request of Steve 

O’Toole to be approved as a fill-in judge as needed and a backup starter if also 
needed.  Motion seconded by Commissioner Cameron.  Motion passed 
unanimously.   

 
Investigations and Enforcement Bureau 
See transcript pages 173-289 
 
1:50 p.m. Director Karen Wells provided an update on the amendments to the licensing 

regulation - 205 CMR 134.00, and reported the following:  the regulation was put 
out for informal public comment, we have received comments, and she highlighted 
comments received from MGM.  She also asked the Commission if they want to go 
with a de minimus exemption and if so, at what threshold amount.  The 
Commissioners discussed the de minimus exemption, suggested amounts, and risk 

https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=1357
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=1435
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=1508
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=1724
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=1823
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=1842
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=1880
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=1927
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=1951


 
assessment; along with comments received from representatives of MGM at the 
meeting.       

.   
2:30 p.m. Commissioner Zuniga moved that the Commission include a de minimus exemption 

for non-gaming vendors in the regulations before us, 205 CMR 134.  Motion 
seconded by Commission Cameron.  Commissioner Stebbins voted no.  The motion 
passed 4 to 1. 

 
2:36 p.m. Commissioner Zuniga further moved that as part of the exemption, the Commission 

set a threshold, an initial threshold of $10,000 relative to that exemption.  Motion 
seconded by Commissioner Macdonald.  Commissioners Cameron and Stebbins 
voted no.  Chairman Crosby and Commissioners Macdonald and Zuniga voted yes.  
The motion passed 3 to 2.   

 
2:37 p.m. Director Wells requested an administrative change for clarification and reported on 

comments received from MGM.  Director Wells requested approval for formal 
promulgation.    

 
 Commissioner Macdonald moved that the Commission approve the amendments to 

205 CMR 134:00:  Licensing and Registration of Employees, Vendors, Junket 
Enterprises and Representatives, and Labor Organizations, amendments that’s 
included in the packet and as amended by the prior motions that were approved by 
us and authorize the staff to take steps necessary to proceed with a regulation 
promulgation process.   Motion seconded by Commissioner Zuniga.  Motion passed 
unanimously.   

 
2:44 p.m. Director Wells reported on the MGM qualifier suitability determination for two 

subsidiaries - MGM Resorts Regional Operations and MGM Springfield 
redevelopment, LLC.  She stated that the IEB recommends suitability for both 
entities.   

 
2:48 p.m. Commissioner Cameron moved that the Commission find both MGM Springfield 

redevelopment, LLC and MGM Resort Regional Operations, LLC suitable.  Motion 
seconded by Commissioner Stebbins.  Motion passed unanimously.   

 
2:50 p.m. The Commission took brief recess.   
2:54 p.m. The meeting resumed.   
 
2:54 p.m. Chairman Crosby stated that there should be a review of the standards of the 

licensing regulations so that we can be more efficient.  He stated that one matter 
that is troubling is a perceived inconsistency in our statute about whether or not our 
statute calls for the obligatory disqualification of gaming service employees with a 
criminal conviction within ten years of the application.  He stated that he asked 
Commissioner Macdonald to look into this matter.    

 
2:57 p.m. Commissioner Macdonald presented on his analysis of the statute and regulation 

pertaining to gaming service employees.  He prepared a memorandum that was 
distributed to the Commissioners.  He reported highlights of his analysis and 
conclusion.    

 

https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=4392
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=4698
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=4760
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=5199
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=5455
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=5611
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=5747


 
3:21 p.m. Commissioner Cameron noted that she agrees with his conclusion and we don’t 

have any evidence of a problem at this time.  She stated that she likes the idea of an 
MGM working group to monitor this issue.  She believes they made the right call in 
2014 and if this becomes an issue, it would be a legislative fix.   

 
3:23 p.m. Commissioner Stebbins stated that he appreciates Commissioner Macdonald’s work 

and the idea of an MGM working group.  He stated that the CORI term generates a 
perception on what people feel they may or may not be eligible for.  He stated that a 
message needs to get out on what is disqualifying.    

 
3:27 p.m. Chairman Crosby stated that we will let this one go for now, and he thinks we 

should pursue the MGM working group idea.   
 
3:29 p.m. Director Karen Wells reported on the value and challenges of reciprocal agreements 

and relationships with other regulatory bodies.  The Commissioners provided 
comment on this matter.   

 
3:52 p.m. Chairman Crosby raised matters for the Commission to think about which included 

an evolving best practice to have little or no investigation or registration of non-
gaming vendors and a regular regulation review process.  Commissioner Zuniga 
suggested a process for regulation review.   

 
Legal Division 
See transcript pages 290-291 
 
3:57 p.m. General Counsel Catherine Blue presented on the amended small business impact 

statement for 205 CMR 6.00 (Pentafecta Pool) and requested approval for final 
promulgation.   

 
3:58 p.m. Commissioner Stebbins moved that the Commission approve the amended small 

business impact statement for 205 CMR 6.00, pari-mutuel rules for thoroughbred, 
harness racing, and greyhound racing, and the Pentafecta Pool is included in the 
packet, and authorize staff to take all steps necessary to file the regulation with the 
Secretary of the Commonwealth and complete the process.  Motion seconded by 
Commissioner Macdonald.  Motion passed unanimously.   

 
Other Business Not Reasonably Anticipated 
See transcript page 291 
 
3:59 p.m. Having no further business, a motion to adjourn was made by Commissioner 

Zuniga.  Motion seconded by Commissioner Macdonald.  Motion passed 
unanimously.   

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

List of Documents and Other Items Used 

https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=7213
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=7339
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=7528
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=7662
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=9036
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=9381
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=9420
https://youtu.be/6z2ttoIEyQU?t=9451


 
 
 
1.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Notice of Meeting and Agenda, dated September 22, 
      2016 
2.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Draft Meeting Minutes, dated August 18, 2016 
3.  Letter to MGC Commissioners from Director Karen Wells and Chief Enforcement 
       Counsel/Deputy Director Loretta Lillios, dated September 15, 2016 regarding Everi 
       suitability investigation for licensure as gaming vendors-primary 
4.  MGM Springfield Quarterly Report, Powerpoint presentation dated September 22, 2016, with 
       attachments 
5.  The Construction of Plainridge Park Casino, Spending, Employment, and Economic Impacts, 
       Rod Motamedi and Thomas Peake, dated September 19, 2016, (University of Massachusetts, 
       Donahue Institute, Economic and Public Policy Research Group) 
6.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Memorandum dated September 22, 2016, regarding 
        Fiscal year 2016 (FY16) closeout and Fiscal Year 2017 (FY17) Fiscal Budget Update, with 
        attachments 
7.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Memorandum (Racing) dated September 22, 2016, 
         regarding request for consideration, Suffolk Downs Capital Improvement Trust Fund, with 
         attachments 
8.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Memorandum (Racing) dated September 22, 2016 
        regarding local aid distributions, with attachments 
9.  Massachusetts Gaming Commission, Memorandum (Racing) dated September 19, 2016, 
        regarding additional Plainridge racing official (Steve O’Toole as association judge and 
        starter), with attachment 
10.  Draft 205 CMR 134.00:  Licensing and Registration of Employees, Vendors, Junket 
         Enterprises and Representatives, and Labor Organizations  
11.  Projected versus actual economic impacts of the construction of Plainridge Park casino, Mark 
         Vander Linden and Theresa Fiore.   
12.  Letter from Director Karen Wells to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission Commissioners, 
         dated September 22, 2016, regarding suitability investigation of MGM Springfield 
         Redevelopment, LLC and MGM resorts regional Operations, LLC 
13.  Amended Small Business Impact Statement for 205 CMR 6.00: Pari-Mutuel Rules for 
         Thoroughbred Racing, Harness Racing, and Greyhound Racing (Pentafecta Pools) 
14.  Memorandum of Commissioner Macdonald, dated September 21, 2016, regarding Licensing 
 and Registration Mandatory Disqualifications 

       
     /s/ Catherine Blue  
     Catherine Blue, Assistant Secretary 
 



 
 

No Documents 



 
 

No Documents 



 
 

No Documents 



 

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

_____________________________________________________________ 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 

To: Chairman Crosby and Commissioners Cameron, Macdonald, Stebbins and Zuniga 

From: Derek Lennon, CFAO 

Date: 10/13/2016 

Re: Wynn Approved Slot Machines and Gaming Positions 

________________________________________________________________________ 

Summary: 
The Massachusetts Gaming Commission (MGC) approved an FY17 Gaming Control Budget that 
required a $22.39M assessment and $4.52M in slot machine fees on licensees.  Licensees’ 
annual fees for slot machines are based on a $600 per approved machine cost.  Licensees’ 
annual share of the assessment is based on their approved gaming positions in proportion to 
the total number of gaming positions. For the slot parlor, the approved number of slot 
machines and gaming positions is evidenced through an operations certificate.  Region A and B 
casinos approved gaming positions and slot machines were determined when their licenses 
were approved.  The Region A licensee, Wynn Resorts, submitted payment for it’s slots fee 
which was $229K less than it was billed.  The rationale for changing the amount was based on 
the design of the floor changing from the initial application to the current stage of design.  
Changes in slot machines and gaming positions require Commission approval.  
 
Background: 
The Massachusetts Gaming Commission’s regulatory control budget is derived from a 
combination of reimbursements for investigative costs, per slot machine annual fees, licensing 
division fees and an assessment on each licensee for it’s proportional share of the difference 
between the Commission’s anticipated expenditures and the aforementioned revenues.  
Chapter 23K §56 (a)-(c) provide the statutory authority for the MGC to fund its annual costs.  
This chapter was further defined through 205 CMR 121.00.  The MGC approved an annual 
budget that required an assessment of $22.39M and slot machine fees of $4.52M and 
approximately $200K in licensing fees.   
 
In the public meeting on March 19, 2015 I recommended to the Commission that gaming 
positions should remain constant until an operations certificate is approved.  Below is the 
section from that memo: 
 

“For purposes of defining approved gaming positions, this report uses the positions 
estimated by HLT during the license deliberations and ultimately approved by the 
Commission by decision to award a license.  For assessment purposes the finance 
office is recommending that the figures remain constant until the Commission 
approves the gaming positions contained in an operations certificate.”   

 



Page 2 of 3 
 

On June 23, 2016 the Massachusetts Gaming Commission approved a budget that required 
the Region A licensee, Wynn Resorts, to pay $1.945M in annual slots fees, and $10.3M 
(46.06%) of the annual assessment.  Wynn Resorts, paid $1.716M which was $229.2K less 
in slot fees than were approved in the FY17 budget.  Wynn paid less because its most 
recent design changed the initial floor composition from 3,242 slot machines to 2,868 and 
from 168 table games to 237.  This resulted in Wynn increasing its total number of gaming 
positions from 4,250 to 4,282.  The combined impact of the slot fee decrease and increase 
in proportional share of the assessment would result in Wynn Resorts paying $81.5K less 
than initially projected.  The $81.5K would be assessed proportionally between MGM and 
Penn National.  The majority of MGC’s funding comes from slot fees and assessments.  A 
change in slots fees would require the assessment to be increased.  The tables below show 
the impact the proposed changes would have on licensees if the revised plan by Wynn 
Resorts were to be approved.   
 

 
 
 
 
Conclusion: 
205 CMR 121.00 requires that the MGC annually bill licensees for approved slot machines 
and an assessment to fund the Gaming Control Fund.  Past practice and recommendations 
have based the approved numbers on either an operations certificate, or the initial license.  
The Finance Office is recommending that Wynn Resorts formally request a change to its 
approved slot machines and approved gaming positions if it would like to change the 

FY17 Assessment 22,390,494.52    

Licensee Slots Table Games

Table 

Gaming 

Positions*

Total 

Gaming 

Positions*

 Percentage of 

Gaming 

Positions

FY17 Initial 

Assessment
Credit  Revised Amount 

MGM 3,000 100 600 3,600 38.99% $8,730,183.07 $380,187.94 $8,349,995.13

Wynn 3,242 168 1,008 4,250 46.03% $10,306,466.12 $448,819.26 $9,857,646.86

Penn 1,250         -                  -   1,383 14.98% $3,353,845.33 $158,395.18 $3,195,450.15

7,492 268 1,608 9,233 100.00% $22,390,494.52 $987,402.38 $21,403,092.14

Licensee Slot Fee Paid Variance

MGM 1,800,000    1,800,000.00                              -   

Wynn 1,945,200    1,716,000.00                229,200.00 

Penn 775,000       775,000.00                              -   

4,520,200 4,291,000.00  229,200.00              

FY17 Revised Assessment for Wynn Changes $22,619,694.52

Licensee Slots Table Games

Table 

Gaming 

Positions*

Total 

Gaming 

Positions*

 Percentage of 

Gaming 

Positions

FY17 Revised 

Assessment
Credit  Revised Amount Change

MGM 3,000 100 600 3,600 38.86% $8,789,087.99 $380,187.94 $8,408,900.06 $58,904.93

Wynn 2,860 237 1,422 4,282 46.22% $10,454,131.89 $448,819.26 $10,005,312.62 $147,665.76

Penn 1,250         -                  -   1,383 14.93% $3,376,474.64 $158,395.18 $3,218,079.46 $22,629.31

7,110 337 2,022 9,265 100.00% $22,619,694.52 $987,402.38 $21,632,292.14 $229,200.00

FY17 Assessment Scenarios

*Table gaming pos i tions , s lots  and table gaming pos i tions  are derived by us ing the HLT figures  from Finance Plan section of the 

Presentation under 2.3 of the table ti tled Proposed Faci l i ty Suitabi l i ty.  For estimating gaming pos i tions  from table games, a  

multipl ier of 6 for each table game is  used. For PPC, i t i s  the amount approved as  of June 6, 2016.



Page 3 of 3 
 

amount  for which it will be responsible to pay of the FY17 costs of providing regulatory 
oversight to expanded gaming.    
 



 
 

 
 
 

 

Policy Questions for Discussion by the Local Community Mitigation Advisory 
Committees and the Subcommittee on Community Mitigation Relative to 

The 2017 Community Mitigation Fund (“CMF”) Guidelines 
 
 

1. Should the Commission place an overall limit on grants for the 2017 CMF? 

Background:  In the 2016 Guidelines, the Commission noted that it “anticipates 
expending … no more than one third of the fund annually for calendar year 2016, 2017, 
and 2018.”  Given that MGM Springfield is expected to open late in 2018 and that Wynn 
Boston Harbor is expected to open in mid-2019, the CMF will not see new revenues for 
a significant period of time.    

2. Should the Commission place a per grant limit for 2017 CMF awards? 

Background:  As noted, given that MGM Springfield is expected to open late in 2018 and 
that Wynn Boston Harbor is expected to open in mid-2019, the CMF will not see new 
revenues for a significant period of time.   

3. If an overall limit is included, how should the Commission and staff evaluate competitive 
grants? 

Background:  It may prove difficult to make determinations between applications that 
may not be easily compared, given the wide range of potential mitigation requests. 

4. Should the Commission revisit its determination to authorize planning grants, which require 
an in-kind match? 

Background:  In recognition that transportation projects may take many years to plan, 
the Commission authorized transportation planning grants in its 2016 CMF Guidelines 
and funded several projects.  In addition, pursuant to its 2015 and 2016 CMF Guidelines, 
communities may utilize up to $50,000 of their CMF reserves for planning purposes. 
 

5. How and when should the CMF guidelines reflect the work of the Lower Mystic Regional 
Working Group?   

Background:  As a result of the Wynn MEPA review, the Massachusetts Department of 
Transportation established a working group to study the regional transportation needs 
of the Sullivan Square area and I-93 area near Sullivan Square.  The recommendations of 



 
 

2 
 

this group are purely advisory to all parties and are not expected until the middle of 
2017, after the February 1 deadline. 

6. Should the Commission revisit its guideline regarding grants involving private parties? 

Background:  The 2016 Community Mitigation Fund (“CMF”) Guidelines specified that 
“[p]rivate non-governmental parties may not directly apply for Community Mitigation 
Funds.  However, governmental entities may apply to the Commission for funds to 
mitigate impacts to private parties provided that such funding is for a ‘public purpose’ 
and not for the direct benefit or maintenance of the private party.”  The 2016 CMF 
Guidelines also specified that the Commission did not anticipate awarding any grants 
involving private non-governmental parties unless the applicant governmental entity, 
licensee, or both provided significant funds.  Questions about this guideline involve the 
difficulty of ensuring that funding requests are for a public purpose and that any awards 
would be consistent with the Commonwealth’s Constitution.  Further, the funding 
matching requirement also is potentially difficult. 

7. How should the 2017 CMF Guidelines treat multi-year grant requests?   

Background:  Some 2016 awards anticipate future grant requests.  Some grants may not 
be able to be completed in a given fiscal year. 

8. Should the Commission fund requests related to utility outages, such as the mitigation of 
business interruptions? 

Background:  The 2016 CMF Guidelines stated that funds could not be used for the 
mitigation of “impacts that are the responsibility (e.g. contractual, statutory, regulatory) 
of parties involved in the construction of gaming facilities…”  It is sometimes difficult to 
determine the party that is responsible for construction impacts.  Further, if a utility is 
determined to be responsible, it is sometimes difficult or impossible to require a utility 
to mitigate an impact. 

9. How should the status of Region C and current litigation involving the potential tribal casino 
impact the 2017 CMF Guidelines? 

Background:  It is unlikely that communities in Region C will experience significant 
construction or operational impacts by February 1, 2017, the statutory CMF deadline.  
Communities have expressed the need for technical assistance funding to help evaluate 
potential impacts. 

10. Should the Commission require a dollar match for its CMF grants? 

Background:  In recognition of local funding constraints and relative differences 
between host and surrounding community agreements, the 2016 CMF Guidelines only 
required an in-kind match for all communities. 



 
 

3 
 

11.  Should communities be reimbursed for the cost of administering CMF grants? 

Background:  Payment of such costs was not allowed under the 2016 CMF Guidelines, 
which instead required an in-kind match by communities. 

12. Should the 2017 CMF be used to support and help leverage resources to address the financial 
constraints on access to programs that support residents of the Springfield or Everett areas 
trying to obtain their high school or work readiness credentials to be eligible for 
employment? 



 

 

Massachusetts Gaming Commission 

 

101 Federal Street, 12th Floor, Boston, Massachusetts 02110 | TEL 617.979.8400 | FAX 617.725.0258 | www.massgaming.com 

 
 
 

MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION  

2016 COMMUNITY MITIGATION FUND GUIDELINES  
 

What is the Community Mitigation Fund? 

The Expanded Gaming Act, MGL c. 23K, created the Community Mitigation Fund to help 
entities offset costs related to the construction and operation of a gaming 
establishment. 

When Is the Application Deadline? 

February 1, 2016.  MGL c. 23K, § 61 states that “parties requesting appropriations from 
the fund shall submit a written request for funding to the Commission by February 1.”     

Who Can Apply? 

MGL c. 23K, § 61 states the Commission shall expend monies in the fund to assist the 
host and surrounding communities … “including, but not limited to, communities and 
water and sewer districts in the vicinity of a gaming establishment, local and regional 
education, transportation, infrastructure, housing, environmental issues and public 
safety, including the office of the county district attorney, police, fire, and emergency 
services.”  The Commission may also distribute funds to a governmental entity or district 
other than a single municipality in order to implement a mitigation measure that affects 
more than one community. 

Private non-governmental parties may not directly apply for Community Mitigation 
Funds.  However, governmental entities may apply to the Commission for funds to 
mitigate impacts to private parties provided that such funding is for a “public purpose” 
and not the direct benefit or maintenance of the private party; the governmental entity 
provides a program that ensures that funding will be made only to remedy impacts; and 
provided that the governmental entity will be responsible for overseeing such funding 
and complying with all applicable state and municipal laws including but not limited to 
Art. 46, §2, as amended by Article 103 of the Amendments to the Massachusetts 
Constitution. 

12/21/15 



2016 Mitigation Fund Guidelines 
P a g e  | 2 

The Community Mitigation Fund may be used to offset costs related to both Category 1 
full casino facilities (MGM Springfield and Wynn Everett) and the state’s Category 2 
slots-only facility (Plainridge Park).  

Does a Community Need to Be a Designated Host or 
Surrounding Community to Apply? 

No.  The Commission’s regulations and MGL c. 23K, § 61 do not limit use of Community 
Mitigation Funds to only host or surrounding communities.  The Commission’s 
regulation, 205 CMR 125.01(4), states that “[a]ny finding by the commission that a 
community is not a surrounding community for purposes of the RFA-2 application shall 
not preclude the community from applying to and receiving funds from the Community 
Mitigation Fund established by MGL c. 23K, § 61….”   

2016 One-Time Reserve 

As in 2015, the Commission will make available certain funds for Region A, Region B, and 
Category 2 communities that may not be able to demonstrate significant impacts by 
February 1, 2016 and had not previously submitted a request for a Reserve fund in 
2015, or communities which failed to file their 2015 application on time.  For 2016, Host 
Communities are eligible to submit a request for a $100,000 reserve in addition to the 
following communities which were each either a designated surrounding community, a 
community which entered into a nearby community agreement with a licensee, a 
community that is geographically adjacent to the host community of a gaming licensee, 
and a community that petitioned to be a surrounding community to a gaming licensee: 

Attleboro 
Hampden 
Melrose 
North Attleboro 
Revere 
 

A second reserve is not available for any community that sought and was awarded a 
reserve in 2015.  

This reserve can be used to cover impacts that may arise in 2016 or thereafter.  It may 
also be used for planning, either to determine how to achieve further benefits from a 
facility or to avoid or minimize any adverse impacts. 



2016 Mitigation Fund Guidelines 
P a g e  | 3 

Communities that choose to utilize the reserve in 2016 and had not previously done so, 
should simply check the “Check Box If Requesting the Creation of a Mitigation Reserve 
Fund for a Community” box on the application.  No other description is required by the 
February 1, 2016 deadline.  Commission staff will follow-up with each community to get 
the community's description of planned uses.  Funds will be distributed as the needs are 
identified.  Communities that utilize the reserve are not prohibited from applying for 
funding for any specific mitigation request.   

Although no specific description as to use needs to be included in an application for the 
2016 reserve, communities must apply by February 1, 2016 to get the reserve. 

Status of One-Time 2015 Reserves 

In 2015, a Reserve Fund was established for communities that may not have been able 
to demonstrate significant impacts by the submittal deadline date.  The Commission 
reserved $100,000 for the following communities which were either a designated 
surrounding community, a community which entered into a nearby community 
agreement with a licensee, or a community that petitioned to be a surrounding 
community to a gaming licensee: 

CATEGORY 1 – CASINO/RESORT 

Region A  Region B 
Boston  Agawam 
Cambridge  Chicopee 
Chelsea  East Longmeadow 
Lynn  Holyoke 
Malden  Longmeadow 
Medford  Ludlow 
Saugus  Northampton 
Somerville  West Springfield (used $98,500 out 

of $100,000) 
  Wilbraham 

 



2016 Mitigation Fund Guidelines 
P a g e  | 4 

CATEGORY 2 – SLOTS 
 Foxborough  
 Mansfield  
 Wrentham  

In many cases, communities may not be in a position to access their 2015 reserves by 
the February 1, 2016.  The Commission has extended such reserves for the 2016 
Community Mitigation Fund Program.  Communities may continue to access whatever 
portion of the original $100,000 that remains unexpended.  The above communities do 
not need to submit any new application to keep its reserve.  The reserve has 
automatically been preserved by action of the Commission.   

The criteria for the use of the reserve remains the same.  This reserve can be used to 
cover impacts that may arise in 2016 or thereafter.  It may also be used for planning, 
either to determine how to achieve further benefits from a facility or to avoid or 
minimize any adverse impacts. 

Funds will be distributed as the needs are identified.  Communities that utilize the 
reserve are not prohibited from applying for funding for any specific mitigation request.   

What are the Reserve Amounts? 

Can communities apply both for the reserve and for a specific impact? 

Yes.  However, if a specific impact application is successful, a portion of the reserve will 
be used as an offset against the amount requested for the specific impact.  The reserve 
amount will be reduced by fifty thousand dollars ($50,000.00) assuming the specific 
impact request is at least that amount. 

Can a community apply for mitigation of a specific impact even though it has not fully 
utilized its 2015 Reserve? 

Yes.  However, if a specific impact application is successful, a portion of the reserve will 
be used as an offset against the amount requested for the specific impact.  The reserve 
amount will be reduced by fifty thousand dollars ($50,000.00) assuming the specific 
impact request is at least that amount 



2016 Mitigation Fund Guidelines 
P a g e  | 5 

What Specific Impacts Can Be Funded? 

The 2016 Community Mitigation Fund for mitigation of specific impacts may be used 
only to mitigate impacts that either have occurred or are occurring as of the February 1, 
2016 application date.  Although the definition in the Commission’s regulations (for the 
purpose of determining which communities are surrounding communities) references 
projected impacts, the 2016 program is limited to only those impacts that are being 
experienced by the time of the February 1, 2016 application date. 

The Commission has determined that the funding of unanticipated impacts will be a 
priority under the Annual Mitigation Fund.  Thus the Commission will review funding 
requests in the context of any host or surrounding community agreement to help 
determine funding eligibility.1  The Community Mitigation Fund is not intended to fund 
the mitigation of specific impacts already being funded in a host or surrounding 
Community Agreement.  Please note that impacts determined through any look back 
review likely are unanticipated impacts. 

Allowable impacts for funding are as follows:  

Category 1 Gaming Facility:  In recognition that no Category 1 gaming facility will be 
operational by February 1, 2016, the Commission has determined that the 2016 
Community Mitigation Fund is available only to mitigate impacts related to the 
construction of Category 1 gaming facilities.  This limitation does not apply to planning 
activities funded under the 2015/2016 one-time reserve fund or 2016 Transportation 
Planning Grants. 

The Commission’s regulation 205 CMR 125.07 defines construction period impacts as: 

“The community will be significantly and adversely affected by the 
development of the gaming establishment prior to its opening taking into 
account such factors as noise and environmental impacts generated during 
its construction; increased construction vehicle trips on roadways within 
the community and intersecting the community; and projected increased 
traffic during the period of construction.” 

                                                        
1 The Commission is aware of the difference in bargaining power between host and surrounding communities in negotiating agreements 
and will take this into account when evaluating funding applications. 



2016 Mitigation Fund Guidelines 
P a g e  | 6 

Category 2 Gaming Facility:  In recognition that the Category 2 gaming facility in 
Plainville opened during calendar year 2015, the Commission will make available 
funding to mitigate construction and operational related impacts that are being 
experienced or were experienced from that facility by the February 1, 2016 date.  The 
Commission will make available up to $500,000 in total for applications for the 
mitigation of operational or construction impacts relating to the Plainridge facility.   

The Commission’s regulation 205 CMR 125.01 2(b)4 defines operational impacts as: 

“The community will be significantly and adversely affected by the 
operation of the gaming establishment after its opening taking into account 
such factors as potential public safety impacts on the community; increased 
demand on community and regional water and sewer systems; impacts on 
the community from storm water run-off, associated pollutants, and 
changes in drainage patterns; stresses on the community's housing stock 
including any projected negative impacts on the appraised value of housing 
stock due to a gaming establishment; any negative impact on local, retail, 
entertainment, and service establishments in the community; increased 
social service needs including, but not limited to, those related to problem 
gambling; and demonstrated impact on public education in the 
community.” 

The Commission’s regulation 205 CMR 125.07 defines construction period impacts as: 

“The community will be significantly and adversely affected by the 
development of the gaming establishment prior to its opening taking into 
account such factors as noise and environmental impacts generated during 
its construction; increased construction vehicle trips on roadways within 
the community and intersecting the community; and projected increased 
traffic during the period of construction.” 

Although these definitions include the types of construction or operational impacts that 
may be funded, it is not limited to those.  The determination will be made by the 
Commission after its review. 



2016 Mitigation Fund Guidelines 
P a g e  | 7 

What Cannot Be Funded? 

2016 Community Mitigation Fund may not be used for the mitigation of: 

Category 1 Gaming Facilities:  

• any operational related impacts; 

• impacts that are projected or predicted but that are not occurring or have not 
occurred by February 1, 2016; 

• impacts that are the responsibility (e.g. contractual, statutory, regulatory) of 
parties involved in the construction of gaming facilities (such as damage caused to 
adjoining buildings by construction equipment, spills of construction-related 
materials outside of work zones, personal injury claims caused by construction 
equipment or vehicles); and  

• Other impacts determined by the Commission.  

Category 2 Gaming Facilities:  

• impacts that are projected or predicted but that are not occurring or have not 
occurred by February 1, 2016; 

• impacts that are the responsibility (e.g. contractual, statutory, regulatory) of 
parties involved in the construction of gaming facilities (such as damage caused to 
adjoining buildings by construction equipment, spills of construction-related 
materials outside of work zones, personal injury claims caused by construction 
equipment or vehicles);  

• Please note that the Commission may determine to expand the eligible uses of 
funds for the 2017 program or other future programs when impacts are more 
clearly identifiable.  The Commission will also consult with mitigation advisory 
committees established in MGL c. 23K in determining such uses. 

Guidance on Funding for Non-Governmental Entities 

As noted, communities and other parties may apply for funds to mitigate the impact to 
non-governmental entities.  However, the Commission strongly encourages applicants 
to ensure the impacts are directly related to the gaming facility.  For example, an 



2016 Mitigation Fund Guidelines 
P a g e  | 8 

applicant could limit a request for assistance for impacts to businesses within 1000 feet 
of a gaming facility.  Further, applicants should demonstrate that the governmental 
entity, the licensee, or both will also financially contribute to any program of assistance.  
The Commission does not anticipate funding any applications for assistance to non-
governmental entities unless the applicant governmental entity or the licensee or both 
provide significant funding to match or partially match the assistance required from the 
2016 Community Mitigation Fund.  Communities may ask the Commission to waive 
these match or partial match requirements.  Communities seeking a waiver should 
include a statement in its application specifying the reason for its waiver request.  
Please note that as stated by the Commonwealth’s Comptroller’s Office:  “The Anti-Aid 
Amendment of the Massachusetts Constitution prohibits “public money or property” 
from aiding non-public institutions…. Article 46 has been interpreted to allow the 
expenditure of public funds to non-public recipients solely for the provision of a “public 
purposes” and not for the direct benefit or maintenance of the non-public entity.” 

Any community seeking funding for mitigation to non-public entities should provide 
detail how its planned use is in conformity with this provision of the Massachusetts 
Constitution and with Municipal Finance Law. 

How Much Funding Is and Will Be Available? 

In sum, a total of $17.5 million from the current licensees was deposited in the 
Community Mitigation Fund for use until Category 1 gross gaming revenues are 
generated, or thereafter (if all such funds are not used prior to that date).  After the 
deduction of purposes approved in 2015, the fund has $14.75 million available.    

No further contributions will be made to the Community Mitigation Fund until either 
MGM Springfield or Wynn Everett become operational and generate revenues.2  Both 
MGM Springfield and Wynn Everett currently project to be operational in 2018.  Once 
operational, MGL c. 23K, § 59 specifies that 6.5% of the revenues from the tax on gross 
gaming revenues from Category 1 (full casino) licensees shall be deposited in the 
Community Mitigation Fund.    

                                                        
2

These guidelines do not describe revenue estimates from or the participation of a Region C facility, as the Region C decision on the 
license has not yet been made.  Further, after the initial deposit, no further contributions from the Slots licensee will be made to the 
fund. 



2016 Mitigation Fund Guidelines 
P a g e  | 9 

Once the MGM Springfield and Wynn Everett facilities are operational, approximately 
$18 million generated by these two facilities will be annually deposited into the 
Community Mitigation Fund using a conservative estimate provided by the 
Commission’s financial consultants.  

Limitations 

Because the $14.75 million in the fund needs to be available until the facilities are 
operational, the Commission anticipates expending no more than one third of the fund 
annually for calendar year 2016, 2017, and 2018.  This amount is estimated to be 
approximately $4.91 million per year.  

Of that amount, for 2016, no more than $500,000 may be expended for operational 
impacts related to the Category 2 gaming facility, unless otherwise determined by the 
Commission.  

Transportation Planning Grants 

For calendar year 2016, the Commission will make available funding for certain 
transportation planning activities for all communities eligible to receive funding from 
the Community Mitigation Fund in Regions A & B and for the Category 2 facility, 
including each Category 1 and Category 2 host community and each designated 
surrounding community, each community which entered into a nearby community 
agreement with a licensee, and any community that petitioned to be a surrounding 
community to a gaming licensee, each community that is geographically adjacent to a 
host community. 

Funding available for planning grants will likely not exceed $982,000, approximately 20% 
of the estimated annual allotment for the fund.  

Eligible planning projects must have a defined area or issue that will be investigated as 
well as a clear plan for implementation of the results.  

Eligible expenses to be covered by the Transportation Planning Grant include, but not 
necessarily limited to:  

• Planning consultants/staff  
• Data gathering/surveys  
• Data analysis 



2016 Mitigation Fund Guidelines 
P a g e  | 10 

• Engineering review/surveys  
• Public meetings/hearings  
• Final report preparation  

The planning projects must be clearly related to addressing transportation issues or 
impacts directly related to the gaming facility.  

Applicants will be required to submit a detailed scope, budget, and timetable for the 
planning effort prior to funding being awarded.  

Pursuant to the Guidelines, the Commission will evaluate requests for planning funds 
(including both the use of Reserve Planning Funds and Transportation Planning Grant 
Funds) after taking into consideration input the applicant has received from the local 
Regional Planning Agency ("RPA") or any such interested parties.  Although there is no 
prerequisite for using RPA's for planning projects, consultation with RPA's is required to 
enable the Commission to better understand how planning funds are being used 
efficiently across the region of the facility.  Please provide details about the applicant’s 
consultation with the RPA or any such interested parties. 

Communities that requested and received reserves in 2015 or 2016 must first expend 
those funds before accessing any Transportation Planning Grant funds.  Transportation 
Planning Grant funds may be sought to expand a planning project begun with reserve 
funds or to fund an additional project once the reserves have been exhausted.  

Springfield Historic Preservation Trust Fund 

On August 6, 2015, as part of the consultative process pursuant to 950 CMR 71.00 – 
Protection of Properties Included in the State Register of Historic Places, the 
Commission determined that it would provide $350,000 in Community Mitigation Funds 
to the Springfield Historic Preservation Trust Fund.  The City of Springfield agreed to 
apply for such funds by February 1, 2016.  The provision of the $350,000 does not limit 
Springfield’s ability to apply for 2016 Community Mitigation Funds for other purposes. 



2016 Mitigation Fund Guidelines 
P a g e  | 11 

What Should Be Included in the Applications? 

• Applicants are required to complete the 2016 Community Mitigation Fund 
Application and may also submit additional supporting materials of a reasonable 
length. 

• Applicants will need to describe how the specific mitigation or planning project 
request will address any claimed impacts and provide justification of any funds 
requested.  Unlike existing surrounding community agreements which were based on 
anticipated impacts, any community mitigation award will be based on impacts that 
have occurred or are occurring, as noted previously.   

• Applicants will need to describe if and how such impacts were addressed or not 
addressed in any host or surrounding community agreements. 

• Applicants may include a letter of support from the applicable gaming licensee.  
However, this is not necessary, as the Commission will request the licensee’s opinion 
regarding each application. 

How Will the Commission Decide on Applications? 

• Similar to the Commission’s surrounding community review process, the Commission 
will ask each licensee to review and comment on any requests for funding. 

• The Commission will evaluate the submittal by the community, any input received 
from the community and interested parties (such as Regional Planning Agencies), the 
responses of the licensee, Commission consultant reviews, and any other sources 
determined by the Commission. 

• The Commission will evaluate any funding requests in the context of any host or 
surrounding community agreements. 

• The Commission may ask applicants for supplementary materials, may request a 
meeting with applicants, and reserves the ability to host a hearing or hearings on any 
application. 

• The Commission’s deliberations on Community Mitigation Fund policies will also be 
aided through input from the Gaming Policy Advisory Committee, the Community 
Mitigation Subcommittee, and any Local Community Mitigation Advisory 
Committees, as established pursuant to MGL c. 23K. 



2016 Mitigation Fund Guidelines 
P a g e  | 12 

• The Commission reserves the ability to determine a funding limit beyond what is 
detailed in these Guidelines, as additional contributions to the Community Mitigation 
Fund will not be made until Category 1 gaming facilities are operational. 

• The Commission reserves the ability to fund only portions of requested projects and 
to fund only a percentage of amounts requested.  The Commission also reserves the 
ability to place conditions on any award. 

• There is limited funding available.  The Commission therefore reserves the right to 
determine which requests to fund based on its assessment of a broad range of 
factors including the extent of public benefit each grant is likely to produce. 

When Will the Commission Make Decisions? 

The Commission anticipates making funding decisions on any requests for mitigation of 
specific impacts approximately by July 2016, after a comprehensive review and any 
additional information requests. 

Is There a Deadline for the Use of the 2016 Reserve? 

There is no deadline.  Funds may be used on a rolling basis when specific impacts are 
determined or the specific planning activity is determined.  Once known, communities 
should contact the Ombudsman's Office, which will assist the community in providing 
the needed information.  Communities with specific impacts will, at the time the 
impacts are known, complete the grayed sections of the 2016 Community Mitigation 
Fund Application (the grayed boxes 1-4 beginning on page 3).  Communities with 
requests for planning funds will provide similar information to the Commission:  a 
description of the planning activity, how the planning activity relates to the 
development or operation of the gaming facility, how the planning funds are proposed 
to be used, consultation with the Regional Planning Agency, other funds being used, and 
how planning will help the community determine how to achieve further benefits from 
a facility or to avoid or minimize any adverse impacts.  Each Community applying for 
planning funds will also need to provide detail on what it will contribute to the planning 
project such as in-kind services or planning funds.  Please note that such details do not 
need to be determined by the February 1, 2016 application date.  Communities must 
only check the box on the first page of the application to establish the reserve.  
Commission approvals of the use of the 2016 reserve funds will also be on a rolling basis 
corresponding to the rolling determinations of use by communities. 



2016 Mitigation Fund Guidelines 
P a g e  | 13 

Who Should Be Contacted for Any Questions? 

As the 2016 Community Mitigation Fund program is just the second year of the program 
for the Commission, communities and other parties may have a number of questions.  
They are encouraged to contact the Commission’s Ombudsman with any questions or 
concerns.  The Commission’s Ombudsman will regularly brief the Commission regarding 
the development of Community Mitigation Fund policies. 

The Commission’s Ombudsman, John Ziemba, can be reached at 617-979-8423 or via e-
mail at john.s.ziemba@state.ma.us.  The Commission’s address is 101 Federal Street, 
12th Floor, Boston, MA 02110. 

Where Should the Applications Be Sent? 

Applications must be sent to www.commbuys.com.  The COMMBUYS bid number is 
BD-16-1068-1068C-1068L-00000006606.  If applicants have any trouble locating this in 
COMMBUYS under the bid number, applicants should search by the agency name, 
Massachusetts Gaming Commission.       
 
An application received by COMMBUYS by February 1, 2016 will meet the application 
deadline.  Applicants that are not part of the COMMBUYS system should contact Mary 
Thurlow of the Commission’s Ombudsman’s Office well in advance of the February 1, 
2016 deadline to make arrangements for submission of the application by the deadline.   
Mary Thurlow can be contacted at 617-979-8420 or at mary.thurlow@state.ma.us. 
 
If you have any questions or concerns contact the COMMBUYS Help Desk 
at COMMBUYS@state.ma.us or during normal business hours (8am - 5pm ET Monday - 
Friday) at 1-888-627-8283 or 617-720-3197. 
 

mailto:john.s.ziemba@state.ma.us
https://www.commbuys.com/bso/
mailto:COMMBUYS@state.ma.us?Subject=COMMBUYS%20Question


 
 

 

 
 
 
 

  

GAMING POLICY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

COMMUNITY MITIGATION ADVISORY SUBCOMMITTEE 

LOCAL COMMUNITY 
MITIGATION ADVISORY 

COMMITTEE 
REGION B - SPRINGFIELD 

 

Each local committee is comprised of a representative from each host and surrounding 
community, each RPA region, and four Commission appointees from the region (a 
representative from a Chamber of Commerce, an economic development organization 
and 2 human service providers).  Each local committee shall annually elect 1 committee 
member from those members appointed by surrounding community to represent the 
local committee in the subcommittee on community mitigation. 

LOCAL COMMUNITY 
MITIGATION ADVISORY 

COMMITTEE 
REGION C -  

LOCAL COMMUNITY 
MITIGATION ADVISORY 

COMMITTEE 
REGION A - EVERETT 

The Community Mitigation Advisory Subcommittee is comprised of members from each 
host community, a Commission representative, a Department of Revenue representative, 
a Massachusetts Municipal Association, one member from each local community 
mitigation advisory committee and three appointed by the Governor: (i) a community 
mitigation professional; (ii) a host community small business owner; and (iii) a chamber 
of commerce member.  

The Gaming Policy Advisory Committee is comprised of the Commission chair, Governor’s 
designee as chair, 2 members of the Senate, 2 members of the House, the Commissioner of 
the Dept. of Public Health or designee, and 8 persons appointed by the Governor (3 gaming 
licensees, a federally recognized Indian tribe, organized labor, and 3 from the vicinity of each 
gaming establishment (host and surrounding communities)). 



 
 

 

 
 

 
  

GAMING POLICY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

MEMBERS OF SUBCOMMITTEE ON 
ADDICTION SERVICES  

MEMBERS OF SUBCOMMITTEE ON 
PUBLIC SAFETY 

The Subcommittee on Public Safety is comprised 
of 7 members: a Commission member, the 
Secretary of Public Safety or designee, the 
Attorney General or designee, a representative 
from the Massachusetts District Attorney 
Association, the Colonel of the State Police or a 
designee, a representative from the 
Massachusetts Chiefs of Police Association, and a 
representative of a public safety labor union. 

The Subcommittee on Addiction Services is 
comprised of 5 members: a representative from 
the Department of Public Health’s Bureau of 
Substance Abuse Services; a representative from 
the Massachusetts Council on Compulsive 
Gambling, Inc.; a representative of the 
Commission; and 2 members appointed by the 
Governor with professional experience in the 
area of gambling addictions. 

The Gaming Policy Advisory Committee is comprised of the chair of the Commission, Governor’s designee as 
chair, 2 members of the Senate, 2 members of the House, the Commissioner of the Dept. of Public Health or 
designee, and 8 persons appointed by the Governor (3 gaming licensees, a federally recognized Indian tribe, 
organized labor, and 3 from the vicinity of each gaming establishment (host and surrounding communities). 

The Subcommittee shall develop 
recommendations for regulations to be 
considered by the Commission in addressing 
issues related to addiction services as a result of 
the development of gaming establishments in the 
Commonwealth including, by not limited to, 
prevention and intervention strategies.  
 
 

The Subcommittee shall develop recommendations 
for regulations to be considered by the Commission 
to address public safety issues as a result of the 
development of gaming establishments in the 
Commonwealth including, but not limited to, ways to 
mitigate the impact of gaming establishments on 
crimes committed in the Commonwealth. The 
Subcommittee shall also study the impact of gaming 
establishments on all aspects of public safety in the 
Commonwealth. 

ROLE OF SUBCOMMITTEE 
ON ADDICTION SERVICES 

ROLE OF SUBCOMMITTEE  
ON PUBLIC SAFETY 



 
 
 

 

 
 

GAMING POLICY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

COMMUNITY MITIGATION ADVISORY SUBCOMMITTEE 

LOCAL COMMUNITY 
MITIGATION ADVISORY 

COMMITTEE 
REGION B - SPRINGFIELD 

Each Local Community Mitigation Advisory Committee may provide information and develop 
recommendations for the Community Mitigation Advisory Subcommittee on any issues related to the 
gaming establishment located in its region including, but not limited to: (i) issues of community 
mitigation; (ii) ways in which funds may be expended from the Community Mitigation Fund; and (iii) 
the impact of the gaming establishments on the host and surrounding communities. Additionally, each 
Local Community Mitigation Advisory Committee may present information to the Commission 
consistent with the rules of the Commission on any issues related to the gaming establishment located 
in its region. 

LOCAL COMMUNITY 
MITIGATION ADVISORY 

COMMITTEE 
REGION C -  

LOCAL COMMUNITY 
MITIGATION ADVISORY 

COMMITTEE 
REGION A - EVERETT 

The Subcommittee shall develop recommendations to address community mitigation issues including 
but not limited to how funds may be expended from the Community Mitigation Fund and the impact of 
gaming establishments on the host and surrounding communities. The Subcommittee will receive input 
from Local Community Mitigation Advisory Committees; review annually the expenditures of 
Community Mitigation Funds and propose regulations to the Commission upon which the Subcommittee 
shall review prior to promulgation. 

The Committee shall designate subcommittees to examine community mitigation, compulsive 
gambling, and gaming impacts on cultural facilities and tourism.  The Committee shall meet at 
least once annually for the purpose of discussing matters of gaming policy.  The Committee shall 
advise the Commission on the development of its annual gaming research agenda. 























































































































































































































































































































































































































 
 

 
 

 

ME M O R A N D UM  
 

 
In accordance with General Laws of Massachusetts, Chapter 128A, Section 5g. 
The trustees may expand without appropriation all or any part of the capital trust fund to the 
appropriate track licensee in proportion to the amount deposited in each fund for use of a 
capital expenditure for alterations, additions, replacements, changes, improvements or major 
repairs to or upon the property owned or leased by the licensee and used by it for the conduct 
of racing, but not for the cost of maintenance or of other ordinary operations. The trustees 
shall hire architectural and engineering consultants as they deem appropriate to advise them 
and to evaluate proposed capital improvements. The following capital fund requests have been 
reviewed. 
Project # SDCITF2013: 

• # 2          $53,004.16 
• # 4                   $6,440.00 
• # 5       $8,647.64 
• # 6         $33,399.27 
• # 7         $1,930.00 
• # 8       $21,035.70 
• # 9         $4,265.00 
• # 10      $12,500.42 
• # 11      $42,955.02 
• # 12      $3,986.09 
• #13      $6,315.25 
• #14      $1,163.94 
• #15      $1,301.56 
• #16      $7,919.69 
• #18      $13,871.88 
• #19      $117,645.69 
• #20      $2,069.76 
• #21      $9,682.05 
• #23      $11,897.37 
• #24      $5,599.50 

 

TO:  Massachusetts Gaming Commission / State Racing Division 
FROM:  Doug O’Donnell, Senior Financial Analyst 
SUBJECT: Request for Consideration, Suffolk Downs Capital Improvement Trust Fund    
DATE: October 13, 2016 
 



 
 

 
 

Total Request for Consideration:    $365,629.99     
                                             
Current balance in Fund $900,757.04 
All financial statements required under section 6 shall be accompanied by a statement signed 
under the pains and penalties of perjury by the manager of the licensee setting forth the capital 
improvements completed with funds obtained under this section. 
   
 
 
 After review and confirmation of request, with your authorization, we will approve scope of 
work to be completed at the licensee facility. 
 















































































































































































































































































































































 

 

 
 

TO: Stephen Crosby, Chairman 
Gayle Cameron, Commissioner 
Lloyd Macdonald, Commissioner 
Bruce Stebbins, Commissioner 
Enrique Zuniga, Commissioner 

 

FROM: Alexandra Lightbown, Director of Racing  

CC: Ed Bedrosian, Executive Director 
Catherine Blue, General Counsel 

 

DATE: October 7, 2016  

RE: Plainridge Park Casino, Rescheduling Live Racing 
Days 

 

 
 
Dear Commissioners: 
 
Steve O’Toole, Director of Racing, Plainridge Park Casino,  in consultation with the Harness 
Horsemen’s Association of New England, is requesting approval to replace the cancelled 
race days of April 19th, August 11th, and September 19th  2016  by adding November 25th, 
December 1 and 2, 2016 with a post time of 1 pm. 
. 
 
Recommendation:  That the Commission approve the request of Plainridge Park 
Casino to replace the three cancelled days with live racing on November 25th, 
December 1st and 2nd 2016, with a post time of 1 pm. 





 
 

 
 

 

 
Amended Small Business Impact Statement 

 
 
 The Massachusetts Gaming Commission (“Commission”) hereby files this amended 
small business impact statement in accordance with G.L. c.30A, §5 relative to the proposed 
amendments in 205 CMR 134.00: Licensing and Registration of Employees, Vendors, Junket 
Enterprises and Representatives, and Labor Organizations; for which a public hearing was held 
on September 21, 2016.  These amendments remove the application submission requirement for 
non-gaming vendor registrants to have an employee fingerprinted under the supervision of the 
Commission. The Commission will retain the discretion to require the fingerprinting of officers 
or employees of any non-gaming registrants. These regulations are largely governed by G.L. c. 
23K §§ 3, 12, 16, 30 and 31. 
 
 These amendments will apply directly to non-gaming vendors applying for licenses. The 
amendments will simplify the license application process for these non-gaming vendors. 
Accordingly, to the extent that non-gaming vendors are small businesses, the amendments may 
impact small businesses.   
 

In accordance with G.L. c.30A, §5, the Commission offers the following responses on 
whether any of the following methods of reducing the impact of the proposed regulation on small 
businesses would hinder achievement of the purpose of the proposed regulation: 
 

1. Establishing less stringent compliance or reporting requirements for small businesses: 
 

  There are no less stringent compliance or reporting requirements for   
  small businesses.  These amendments will apply to non-gaming vendors applying  
  for licenses.  Accordingly, to the extent that non-gaming vendors are   
  small businesses, the amendments are intended to simplify the license application  
  process.   

 
2. Establishing less stringent schedules or deadlines for compliance or reporting 

requirements for small businesses: 
 
  There are no schedules or deadlines for compliance or reporting requirements for  
  small businesses created by these regulations.  These amendments will apply to  
  non-gaming vendors applying for licenses.  Accordingly, to the extent that non- 
  gaming vendors are small businesses, the amendments are intended to simplify  
  the license application process.   
 
  



 
 

 
 

3. Consolidating or simplifying compliance or reporting requirements for small 
businesses: 

 
  There are no compliance or reporting requirements for small businesses.   
  These amendments will apply to non-gaming vendors applying    
  for licenses.  Accordingly, to the extent that non-gaming vendors are   
  small businesses, the amendments are intended to simplify the license application  
  process.   
 

4. Establishing performance standards for small businesses to replace design or 
operational standards required in the proposed regulation: 

 
  There are no performance standards for small businesses to replace design or  
  operational standards required in the proposed regulations.  These amendments  
  will apply to non-gaming vendors applying for licenses.  Accordingly, to the  
  extent that non-gaming vendors are small businesses, the amendments are   
  intended to simplify the license application process.   
 

5. An analysis of whether the proposed regulation is likely to deter or encourage the 
formation of new businesses in the Commonwealth: 

 
G.L. c. 23K was enacted to create a new industry in the Commonwealth and to 
promote and grow local small businesses and the tourism industry. The proposed 
regulations are designed to effectuate those intentions and growth, and encourage 
more applications for vendor licenses, thus encouraging business in the 
commonwealth.   

 
6. Minimizing adverse impact on small businesses by using alternative regulatory 

methods: 
 
  These regulations do not create any adverse impact on small businesses.  The  
  amendments are intended to simplify the license application process. 

 
 

      Massachusetts Gaming Commission 
      By:  
 
      _____________________________ 
      Cecelia M. Porché 
      Paralegal 
      Legal Division  
 
Dated:____________________________ 



 
205 CMR: MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION 

 
205 CMR  134.00:  LICENSING AND REGISTRATION OF EMPLOYEES, VENDORS, 

JUNKET ENTERPRISES AND REPRESENTATIVES, AND LABOR 
ORGANIZATIONS 

 
************ 

 
134.13:  Fingerprinting 
 

Each applicant for a key gaming employee license, gaming employee license, 
gaming service employee registration, and each qualifier for a gaming vendor applicant 
or licensee, or non-gaming vendor registration shall be fingerprinted under the 
supervision of the Commission. The Bureau in its discretion may require one or more 
officers or employees of any non-gaming vendor registrant to be fingerprinted under the 
supervision of the Commission.  The Commission may, for good cause shown, permit an 
applicant to alternatively submit three sets of classifiable fingerprints on fingerprint 
impression cards provided by the Commission. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REGULATORY AUTHORITY 

 205 CMR 134.00: M.G.L. c. 23K, §§3, 12, 16, 30 and 31 



 

1 
 

AN ACT RELATIVE TO HORSE RACING AND WAGERING 
 
SECTION 1.   Section 7 of chapter 4 of the General Laws, as appearing in the 2014 Official 
Edition, is hereby amended by striking out clause Tenth and inserting in place thereof the 
following clause:- 
 
 Tenth, “Illegal Gaming”, a banking or percentage game played with cards, dice, tiles or 
dominoes or an electronic, electrical or mechanical device or machine for  money, property, 
checks, credit or any representative of value, but excluding:  (i) a lottery game conducted by the 
state lottery commission under sections 24, 24A and 27 of chapter 10; (ii) a game conducted 
under chapter 23K; (iii) pari-mutuel wagering on horse races and greyhound races under chapter 
128D; (iv) a game of bingo conducted under chapter 271; and (v) charitable gaming conducted 
under said chapter 271. 
 
SECTION 2.   Chapter 128A of the General Laws is hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 3.   Said chapter 128C is hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 4.    Section 7 of chapter 23K of the General Laws is hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 5.  Section 60 of chapter 23K of the General laws is hereby repealed.   
 
SECTION 6. The General Laws are hereby amended by inserting after chapter 128C the 
following chapter:- 

CHAPTER 128D. 
HORSE RACING AND WAGERING. 

 
 
Section 1.  Preamble.  It is the intent of this chapter to grant the Massachusetts Gaming 
Commission all necessary authority to oversee and regulate all aspects of horse racing and 
simulcasting in the Commonwealth with the object of promoting its efficient operation, and the 
honesty and integrity of the wagering process related to it.  It is the further intent of this chapter 
that the Commission utilize best efforts to ensure that the horse racing industry be preserved and 
sustained for, amongst other reasons, the preservation of open space, the agricultural benefits 
associated with horse racing, and the creation and preservation of jobs and businesses associated 
with horse racing.   
 
Section 2.  Terms used in this chapter shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be construed 
as follows: 
 
“Advance Deposit Wagering”, a form of pari-mutuel wagering in which an individual may 
deposit money to an account established through an agreement with a holder of a racing meeting 
license or simulcasting license and use the account balance to make and pay for wagers by the 
holder of the account which wagers may be made in person, by direct telephone call or by 
communication through other electronic media by the holder of the account. 
 



 

2 
 

“Breaks'', in the case of live horse racing meetings conducted in the commonwealth by a racing 
meeting licensee, the odd cents over any multiple of 10 cents of winnings per $1 wagered; 
provided however, that in the case of live horse racing meeting conducted at a race track outside 
the commonwealth, the amount of the breaks shall be determined in accordance with the laws of 
the state in which the race track is located. 
 
''Commission'', the Massachusetts gaming commission established in chapter 23K. 
 
“Exotic wager” a bet on the speed or ability of a combination of more than 1 horse in a single 
race. 
 
“Guest track” a racing meeting licensee or an out-of-state pari-mutuel wagering facility which 
accepts a simulcast wager on a live race conducted at another track which is presented by 
simulcast at the facility of the racing meeting licensee or the out-of-state pari-mutuel wagering 
facility. 
 
“Host track”, a racing meeting licensee or an out-of-state track which conducts a live race which 
is the subject of intertrack simulcasting and simulcast wagering. 
 
“Pari-mutuel wagering”, a form of wagering on the outcome of an event in which all wagers are 
pooled and held by an association for distribution of the total amount, less the deductions 
authorized by law, to holder of tickets on the winning contestants. 
 
''Premium'', the amount paid to a racing meeting licensee in addition to a host track fee for 
purposes of providing a simulcast signal. 
 
“Race track”, a track where live horse racing meeting are held, including but not limited to, 
grounds, auditoriums, amphitheaters and bleachers, if any, and adjacent places used in 
connection therewith. 
 
“Racing license”, an authorization awarded by the commission, under specified conditions, to 
accept wagers on live horse racing conducted on licensed premises in the commonwealth. 
 
“Racing licensee”, is a person who holds a racing license. 
 
''Rebate'' a portion of pari-mutuel wagers, otherwise payable to a racing licensee, that is paid to a 
holder of a pari-mutuel wagering ticket and that reduces the amount otherwise payable to such 
licensee, including, but not limited to, refunds to holders of pari-mutuel wagering tickets of any 
portion or percentage of the full face value of a pari-mutuel wager, paying a bonus on a winning 
pari-mutuel ticket, awards of merchandise, services such as meals, parking, admission, seating 
and programs, free or reduced cost pari-mutuel wagers, monetary awards, or any other benefit 
that the commission deems appropriate to reward horse racing patrons for their patronage. 
 
''Simulcast'', the broadcast, transmission, receipt or exhibition, by any medium or manner, of a 
live race conducted live at a race track other than the one at which it is being exhibited at, 
whether inside or outside the commonwealth, including but not limited to, a system, network, or 



 

3 
 

programmer which transmits, or receives, television or radio signals by wire, satellite, or 
otherwise. 
 
“Simulcasting license”, is an authorization awarded to a person by the commission under 
specified conditions, to accept simulcast wagers. 
 
“Simulcast licensee”, a person who holds a simulcasting license. 
 
''Simulcast wager'', a wager taken by a simulcast licensee on a race that is simulcast. 
 
“Takeout”, monies deducted from a pari-mutuel wager as required by the commission prior to 
payment of winnings. 
 
Section 2.  The commission shall have all powers necessary or convenient to effectively regulate 
horse racing. simulcasting and pari-mutuel wagering including, but not limited to, the power to 
adopt, amend or repeal regulations for the implementation, administration and enforcement of 
this chapter. The commission shall not issue a prohibition on horse racing or simulcasting or 
related wagering thereon; provided, however, that the commission may use its powers to act on 
each individual licensing decision or in all other decisions in the best interest of horse racing 
with the object of promoting its efficient operation and the honesty and integrity of the wagering 
process related to it. 
 
 The commission shall administer and enforce any general and special law related to pari-
mutuel wagering and simulcasting.  The commission shall serve as a host racing commission and 
an off-track betting commission for the purposes of 15 U.S.C. 3001 et seq.  The commission 
shall have all requisite powers afforded in accordance with section 4 of chapter 23K.  The power 
and authority granted to the commission shall be construed as broadly as necessary for the 
implementation, administration and enforcement of this chapter.  
 
Section 3.  (a) The commission shall promulgate regulations for the implementation, 
administration and enforcement of this chapter including, without limitation, regulations that: 
 
(i) prescribe the application process and criteria for evaluation of the application and 
renewal for a racing license; provided, however, in determining whether to award or renew a 
racing license the commission shall take into consideration the physical location of the race track 
as it relates other proposed and licensed tracks, whether the race track will  maximize benefits to 
the commonwealth, the support or opposition to each applicant from the public, and any other 
considerations deemed relevant by the commission; 
 
(ii) prescribe the process and criteria for evaluation of the application and renewal of a 
simulcasting license, provided, however that a simulcasting license shall be limited to a race 
meeting licensee, a gaming licensee pursuant to chapter 23K or an entity licensed under chapters 
128A or 128C to conduct simulcasting as of June 1, 2016 and in granting a simulcasting license 
to a gaming licensee, the commission shall take into consideration the impact on existing 
facilities previously licensed pursuant to said chapters 128A and 128C;  
 



 

4 
 

(iii) prescribe the minimum number of live racing days required to be held by a racing 
licensee; 
 
(iv) prescribe rules governing live horse racing, pari-mutuel wagering, simulcasting and 
simulcast wagering; 
 
(v) prescribe requirements that may direct a percentage of wagering received on in-state and 
out-of-state horse races to the Race Horse Development Fund established in section 8 to support 
purse assistance and breeding programs; 
 
(vi) prescribe the amount and manner that premiums, if any, will be assessed upon the racing 
meeting and/or simulcasting licensees; 
 
(vii) prescribe the amount and manner of takeouts; 
 
(viii) prescribe procedures and requirements for the use of breaks and unclaimed wagers; 
 
(ix) establish uniform standards and requirements for horse racing including, but not limited 
to, safety standards for horses, jockeys, drivers, and other participants, and for the drug testing of 
horses and jockeys and drivers;   
 
(x) prescribe the types of allowable wagers; 
 
(xi) prescribe procedures for the use of advance deposit wagering accounts including 
electronic components of advance deposit wagering account, rebates and rewards; 
 
(xii) prescribe the manner in which judges, stewards and race officials will be qualified and 
appointed; 
 
(xiii) develop procedures for the voluntary and involuntary exclusion of patrons from a race 
track in a manner consistent with section 45 of chapter 23K; 
 
(xiv) require racing meeting licensees and simulcasting licensees to develop protocols to 
prevent underage wagering and establish security procedures for ensuring the safety of minors at 
race tracks; 
 
(xv) prescribe the minimum internal control procedures for racing meeting licensees and 
simulcasting licensees including those for effective control over the internal fiscal affairs of a 
licensee, including provisions for implementation of a uniform standard of accounting, the 
safeguarding of assets and revenues, the recording of cash and evidence of indebtedness and the 
maintenance of reliable records, accounts and reports of transactions, operations and events, 
including reports to the commission; 
 
(xvi) establish licensure and registration procedures for employees of racing meeting licensees 
and simulcasting licensees not working at a gaming establishment pursuant to chapter 23K;  
 



 

5 
 

(xvii) establish licensure and registration provisions for veterinarians, blacksmiths, owners, 
trainers, jockeys and stable employees performing work at race tracks; 
 
(xviii) require that all employees of a racing meeting licensee and simulcasting licensee who 
have racing or simulcasting responsibilities, be properly trained in their respective professions;  
 
(xix) establish procedures governing the operation of the Racehorse Development Fund 
established pursuant to section 8 of this chapter;  
 
(xx)  prescribe grounds and procedures for the revocation, termination or suspension of 
licenses and registrations issued by the commission, and for the issuance of discipline or fines to 
persons holding licenses and registrations granted by the commission;   
 
(xxi) prescribe the allocation of funds from racing meeting licensees and simulcast licensees 
for the purpose of funding the activities of the commission relative to racing; and 
 
(xxii) prescribe any other issues related to the honest conduct of horse racing, simulcasting and 
wagering related to horse racing and simulcasting.   
  

(b) The commission may, pursuant to section 2 of chapter 30A, promulgate, amend or repeal any 
regulation promulgated under this chapter as an emergency regulation if such regulation is 
necessary to protect the interests of the commonwealth in regulating horse racing. 

 
Section 4. The commission may inspect and shall have access to the entire race track and 
premises associated therewith upon which activity is conducted pursuant to a racing meeting 
license or a simulcasting license issued in accordance with this chapter or chapter 23K including 
all records, documents, systems, equipment, and supplies on the premises. 
 
Section 5. The commission may audit as often as the commission determines necessary the 
accounts, programs, activities, and functions of all racing meeting licensees and simulcasting 
licensees. To conduct the audit, authorized officers and employees of the commission or 
consultants contracted by the commission shall have access to such accounts at reasonable times, 
upon reasonable notice and the commission may require the production of books, documents, 
vouchers and other records relating to any matter within the scope of the audit.   
 
Section 6.  Each racing meeting licensee and simulcasting licensee shall make readily available 
to the commission all documents, materials, equipment, personnel and any other items requested 
during an investigation; provided, however, that material that a racing meeting licensee or 
simulcasting licensee considers a trade secret may, with the commission's approval, be protected 
from public disclosure and the licensee may require nondisclosure agreements with the 
commission before disclosing such material. 
 
Section 7. The commission shall establish application fees for all licenses, approvals, and 
renewals awarded under this chapter which shall include costs incurred for conducting a 
background investigation into an applicant.  The commission may seek reimbursement from an 
applicant for any costs of investigation in excess of the initial application or renewal fee.   



 

6 
 

 
Section 8.  (a) There shall be a Race Horse Development Fund to be administered by the 
commission which shall be used to support the best interest of the horse racing industry. The 
fund shall consist of monies deposited under subsection (c) of section 55 of chapter 23K, 
subclause (l) of clause (2) of section 59 of said chapter 23K and any money and any monies 
credited to or transferred to the fund from any other fund or source, including gifts, grants and 
donations. Amounts credited to the fund shall be expended: 
 
 (i)  to fund purses for live horse racing meetings; 
 
 (ii)  to support the general welfare of the horse racing and simulcasting industry in the 
 commonwealth; 
 
 (iii) for a commission program that supports health, pension, life insurance and other 
 benefits deemed appropriate by the commission for owners, trainers,  breeders, jockeys, 
 drivers and other associated with horse racing; 
 
 (iv) to support the equine economy which shall include but not be limited to 
commonwealth bred thoroughbred and Standardbred horses and veterinary medicine including 
but not limited to Tufts University School of Veterinary Medicine, equine care, open space 
preservation and equestrian sport and therapeutic programs. 
 
(b) The commission shall ensure that not less than 50 per cent of amounts credited to the 
fund are available for purses under clause (i) in any year where live horse racing is conducted in 
the commonwealth and is sufficient to sustain those purse funds.  No expenditure from the fund 
shall cause it to be in deficiency at the close of a fiscal year. 
 
(c) All monies in the Race Horse Development Fund on the effective day of this chapter 
pursuant to section 60 of chapter 23K of the General Laws shall be transferred to the Race Horse 
Development Fund established in section 8 of this chapter 128D of the General Laws.  On and 
after the effective date of this chapter, all funds directed by any general or special law to be 
deposited in the Race Horse Development Fund established in section 60 of chapter 23K shall be 
deposited into the Race Horse Development Fund established in said section 8 of this chapter 
128D. 
 
Section 9.  (a)  A racing meeting licensee that conducts pari-mutuel betting on horse races 
conducted on a licensed race track, shall distribute all sums deposited in any pari-mutuel pool to 
the holders of winning tickets therein less any takeouts as determined by the commission.   
 (b) A simulcasting licensee acting as a guest track shall return to the winning patrons 
wagering on such simulcast races all sums so deposited as an award or dividend, less any 
takeouts as determined by the commission.   
 
Section 10.  Notwithstanding this chapter or any general or special law to the contrary, no live 
dog racing meeting or live racing meeting where any form of betting or wagering on the speed or 
ability of dogs occurs shall be conducted or permitted in this commonwealth and the commission 



 

7 
 

is hereby prohibited from accepting or approving any application or request for racing dates for 
live dog racing. 
 
Any person who violates this section relative to live dog racing shall be subject to a civil penalty 
of not less than $20,000 which shall be payable to the commission and used for administrative 
purposes of the commission. 
 
Section 11.  Any person who accepts or pays out a wager or bet on the results of any horse race 
or dog race, or aids or abets any of the foregoing types of wagering or betting, except as 
permitted by this chapter, shall for a first offence be punished by a fine of not more than $2000 
and imprisonment in the house of correction for not more than 1 year, and for a subsequent 
offence by a fine of not more than $10,000 and imprisonment  in the house of correction for not 
more than 2 years or both such fine or imprisonment. 
 
Section 12. The commission shall provide an annual report of activity conducted pursuant to 
this chapter.  The report shall include, but not be limited to, an analysis of commission activities 
designed to further the race horse industry and equine economy; a full and complete statement of 
revenues, expenditures and the balance of the Race Horse Development Fund; an accounting of 
funds received from racing meeting licensees and simulcast licensees for the purpose of funding 
the activities of the commission; and an accounting of projected expenditures from the Race 
Horse Development Fund in the next year.  The report shall be made available on the 
commission’s website and filed annually with the clerks of the house of representatives and the 
senate, the chairs of the house and senate committees on ways and means and the chairs of the 
joint committee on economic development and emerging technologies not later than March 1 of 
each calendar year. 
______________ 
 
 



 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

An Act to Enable Municipal and Regional Planning Agency Employees to Fully 
Participate in Gaming Policy Advisory Committees 

 

Section 1.  Section 68 of chapter 23K of the General Laws, as appearing in 
the 2014 Official Edition, is hereby amended by inserting at the end the 

following paragraph: 

(f) A municipal employee serving as a member of an advisory committee or 

subcommittee created by this section shall not violate section 4 of Chapter 
268A by expressing the views of his employing municipality or regional 

planning agency during committee or subcommittee meetings or by 
receiving his usual compensation as a municipal employee or by performing 

the usual duties of his municipal employment, including acting as an agent 
or attorney for the municipality or regional planning agency, in relation to 

particular matters in which he participated or which are, or in the prior year 
have been a subject of his official responsibility as a member of the advisory 

committee or subcommittee or which are pending before the advisory 
committee or subcommittee. 

 



 
 

No Documents 


	0) Cover Page
	10-13-16 - Commission Meeting Agenda - FINAL
	2a1) 2016.09.08 - Minutes - Draft
	2a2) 2016.09.22 - Minutes - Draft
	3a) No Documents
	3b) No Documents
	3c) No Documents
	3d) Wynn Approved Slot Machines and Gaming Positions and Impact on FY17 Funding
	4a1) Policy Questions for CMF 20161007
	4a2) 2016 CMF Guidelines
	What is the Community Mitigation Fund?
	When Is the Application Deadline?
	Who Can Apply?
	Does a Community Need to Be a Designated Host or
	Surrounding Community to Apply?
	2016 One-Time Reserve
	Status of One-Time 2015 Reserves
	What are the Reserve Amounts?
	What Specific Impacts Can Be Funded?
	What Cannot Be Funded?
	Guidance on Funding for Non-Governmental Entities
	How Much Funding Is and Will Be Available?
	Limitations
	Transportation Planning Grants
	What Should Be Included in the Applications?
	How Will the Commission Decide on Applications?
	When Will the Commission Make Decisions?
	Is There a Deadline for the Use of the 2016 Reserve?
	Who Should Be Contacted for Any Questions?
	Where Should the Applications Be Sent?

	4a3) GPAC charts
	5a1)  Suffolk Downs Petition
	5a2) Suffolk Downs Supplemental Petition
	5a3) Raynham Brief
	5a4) Exhibits to Raynham Brief
	5a5)  NEHBPA comment letter
	5b) Suffolk Cap RFC packet 10-13-16 SDCOTF2013
	5c1) Plainridge cancel reschedule 2016 Oct
	5c2) Plainridge rescheduled days 2016
	6a1) ASBIS - 205 CMR 134.00 - 2016.10.13
	6a2) 205 CMR 134 (Fingerprinting) - Approved by Commission - FINAL DRAFT - 10.13.16
	6b) 2017 draft racing legislation
	6c) GPAC corrective legislation 20171011
	7) No Documents



